Preliminary Statement
On September 11, 2001, terrorist attacks caused damage on an unimaginable scale in the United States.  The loss of life and financial damage can be calculated, but the grief and pain caused by the terrorists on that day are beyond measure.  In response to the attacks, Congress issued a Joint Resolution Authorizing the Use of Force (“Joint Resolution”).
 Congress also passed the USA Patriot Act which greatly enhances the Government’s ability to fight the crime of terrorism.  Congress has defined terrorism as an act of violence that is intended to effect the policy or conduct of the Government.
 
On May 8, 2002, Jose Padilla (“Padilla”),a United States citizen arrived in the United States via a regular scheduled commercial airliner.  He was arrested pursuant to a material witness warrant issued by the grand jury sitting in New York and counsel was assigned. On June 9, 2002, President George W. Bush, as Commander-in-Chief, based on substantially the same facts as those presented to this Court in support of the grand jury arrest warrant, found Padilla an enemy combatant.  The President ordered Padilla’s arrest and detention by the military.
  Padilla remains at the U.S. Navy Consolidated Brig in South Carolina where he is held incommunicado and has been denied all access to counsel.  


The President’s action is devoid of either congressional or constitutional authority.  It is in direct contravention of statutory and settled case law. It constitutes an illegal act of unbridled Executive power. Furthermore, the facts, as alleged by respondent do not support a finding that Padilla is an “unlawful combatant”. Respondent’s argument in support of the President’s Order constitute nothing more than circular reasoning. It assumes a fact, namely that Padilla is an enemy combatant, and from that assumption, reaches a conclusion, that he can be seized by the military and detained forever.   
This nation was founded on a belief that the common good of all citizens is best protected by a system of government which respects the rights of each of its citizens. It was founded on a belief that those rights are best protected by a system of government based on checks and balances.  Never in the history of this country has the President ordered the United States military to indefinitely detain a citizen under the facts and circumstances present here.  The President’s June 9th Order constitutes an unprecedented expansion of Executive authority. 

At a time like this, when emotions are understandably high, it is difficult to adopt a dispassionate attitude toward a case of this nature.  Yet now is precisely the time when that attitude is most essential. While peoples in other lands may not share our beliefs as to due process and the dignity of the individual, we are not free to give effect to our emotions in reckless disregard of the rights of others.  We live under the Constitution, which is the embodiment of all the high hopes and aspirations of the new world.  And it is applicable in both war and peace.  We must act accordingly.  

In re Yamashita, 327 U.S. 1, 40-41(1946)(Murphy, J., dissenting) 

The Presidents’s Order is contrary to the law and violates Padilla’s constitutional rights. This Petition seeks the end of the unlawful detention of Jose Padilla.  It must be granted.  
Background
Jose Padilla, a United States citizen,  born in Brooklyn, New York, traveled on May 8, 2001, from Zurich, Switzerland to Chicago, aboard a commercial airliner, dressed in his own clothing, carrying his valid United States passport, intending to visit his son who lives in Chicago.  His only other plan was to then visit his family in Florida.  When Padilla arrived in Chicago, he did not possess a weapon, a bomb, nuclear material, or an instruction manual relating to even rudimentary bomb making.   Along with the other passengers, upon debarking the airplane at O’Hare Airport, he proceeded to Customs. He was asked to step aside and speak to law enforcement. He truthfully answered questions posed to him.  He was shortly placed under arrest pursuant to a Material Witness Warrant issued by this Court for his appearance before a grand jury sitting in the Southern District of New York.  He politely requested an attorney.

Padilla arrived in New York City, late evening May 14 and was taken to the high security floor of the Metropolitan Correction Center (“MCC”).  The next day,  Padilla came before this Court and Donna R. Newman, Esq. was appointed to represent him. Padilla arrived in court in leg irons, shackles, and handcuffs.  Counsel and  Padilla were permitted to review the affidavit which had been submitted to this Court in support of the warrant for Padilla’s arrest as a grand jury material witness.  For the next several weeks, counsel met with her client on a regular basis at MCC and filed motions on his behalf.  The motions asked this Court to find that a material witness for the grand jury could not be lawfully detained.  Counsel anticipated receiving the Court’s decision on the motions at a conference that had been scheduled for Tuesday, June 11, 2002. That hearing never proceeded.

On Sunday, June 9, 2002, President Bush executed a Military Order declaring Jose Padilla, a civilian, an “enemy combatant”  and ordered his arrest and detention by the military. See, Respondent’s Brief (“RB” at  Exhibit A.)  Padilla, without notice to counsel, was taken from the MCC in the custody of the military and flown by the military to the Consolidated Naval Brig in Charleston, South Carolina. Attorney General John Aschroft, on June 10th , via satellite, announced from Moscow  Padilla’s arrest by the military and  transfer of  Padilla’s custody from the Department of Justice to the Department of Defense
.  The Attorney General stated that the Government had no intention of charging Padilla with a crime, but rather Padilla was arrested and taken into military custody for interrogation.  The instant writ of habeas corpus was filed and amended on June 19, 2002.

Legal Argument
POINT I
THE DETENTION OF PADILLA IS ILLEGAL
The Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment prohibits the Government from “depriving” a United States citizen of liberty “without due process of law”: See, U.S. Const. Amend. V.  It also assures every person the equal protection of the laws and thus, guarantees that all persons similarly situated shall be treated alike. City of Cleburne v. Cleburne Living Ctr., Inc., 473 U.S. 432. 439 (1985).  Among the rights guaranteed to citizens by the Constitution are:  the right to remain silent (U.S.Const., Art. V); the right to an attorney (U.S.Const., Art. V & VI); the right to a public and  speedy trial ((U.S.Const., Am. VI); the right to confront witnesses and subpoena defense witnesses (Id.); and the right to be free of unreasonable seizure(U.S. Const., Amend. IV). These rights and protections, crafted by our founding fathers into the Constitution to protect the liberty of individual citizens, can not, even by the stroke of the Presidential pen, be disregarded.

A.
Deference Should Not Be Accorded an Illegal Act
The Respondents claims this Court can not look behind, question, or “second guess” the President’s determination that Padilla is an “enemy combatant”. (RB 8). The Respondents argues that the appropriate review is “limited to confirming, based on some evidence, the existence of a factual basis supporting the determination”. (RB 12). Deference to the President’s factual findings and his determinations can only be accorded if the President’s June 9 Order is lawful. Simply, examination of the factual predicate only becomes an issue if this Court concludes the actions taken by the President were sanctioned by the Constitution.  The President’s actions here, however, are in direct contravention of settled law, specific acts of Congress, and in violation of the Constitution.  Deference to the President’s determination is, therefore, unwarranted. 

B.    Ex Parte  Milligan Precludes The Detention of Jose Padilla By the Military
The Supreme Court in Ex parte Milligan, 71 U.S. 2 (4 Wall 2) (1866 ) held: “Martial rule can never exist where the courts are open, and in the proper and unobstructed exercise of their jurisdiction.” Id. at 127.  In times of war or in time of peace where the civilian courts are open and operating, a citizen who is not a member of the armed forces may not be tried for violations of the law of war by the military. Id. at 120-21.  See also, Duncan v. Kahanamoku, 327 U.S. 304 (1946); Ex parte Orozco, 201 F.106, 111-112 (W.D. Texas 1912). “The Constitution of the United States is the law for ruler and people, equally in war and peace, and covers with the shield of its protection all classes of men, at all times, and under all circumstances.” Milligan, 71 U.S. at 121.  

The facts and circumstances of this Civil War era case are strikingly similar to Padilla’s.  In 1864, Lamdin P. Milligan was arrested by the military at his home in Indiana where he had been a resident and citizen.  At no time had he been a member of the military. Id. at 107.  Among the charges preferred was a charge of “violation of the laws of war”.   The substance of the charges were that Milligan, between October 1983 and August 1984, joined and aided a secret society known as the Order of American Knights or Sons of Liberty whose purpose was the overthrowing of the Government, and communicating with the enemy, conspiring to seize ammunition and storing an arsenal of weapons. See, “Remarks of  the Chief Justice of  the United States, William Rehnquist”, Monday, October 28, 1996, Indiana University School of Law-Bloomington, Indiana
(hereinafter “Rehnquist Remarks”), pg. 5.

The evidence against Milligan was largely circumstantial, and essentially consisted of hearsay. There was evidence that at least one of the conspirators was in contact with Confederate agents in Canada and had planned to seize a federal arsenal and free confederate prisoners. Rehnquist Remarks,  pg. 6.  The military tribunal found the defendants guilty and sentenced three to death, including Milligan. Milligan, 71 U.S. at 107 .

    
Padilla, like Milligan is a citizen, not in the military, arrested by the military, based on allegations that he associated(not even joined) an organization which is bent on violent actions against the United States.  Similar to Milligan, the allegations against Padilla are circumstantial, and consist largely of hearsay and supposition.  See, Mobbs Declaration attached to Respondent’s Brief as Exhibit A.

Milligan filed a writ for habeas corpus relief claiming it was a violation of his constitutional rights to have been tried by a military tribunal.  Milligan, 71 U.S. at 108. The Government argued there, as it does here, that a violation of the “laws and usages of war” provides jurisdiction for the action taken. Id. at 122. The Court disagreed: “It can serve no useful purpose to inquire what those laws and usages are, whence they originated, where found, and on whom they operace; they can never be applied to citizens in states which have upheld the authority of the government, and where the courts are open and their process unobstructed.” Id. at 122.

 All the justices agreed that the trial of civilians by the military was invalid.  The five judge majority held that a United States citizen not in the armed forces could not be tried before a military commission even in time of war.   Judge Chase, writing the concurring opinion, found the trial illegal because it was in direct violation of a statute which required any suspect detained to be held only so long as the grand jury had an opportunity to pass upon the charges. Milligan, 371 U.S. at 136.  Both the majority opinion, and Justice Chase’s concurrence, require Congressional authorization for the detention of civilians by the military for trial or for any other reason. As Professors Neil Katyal and Laurence Tribe recently noted: “This general principle of  Milligan - a principle never repudiated in subsequent cases - leaves the President little unilateral freedom to craft an order to detain people on his own suspicion for indefinite warehousing or trial at his pleasure in a system of military justice.”  Neal K. Katyal and Laurence H. Tribe, Waging War, Deciding Guilt: Trying the Military Tribunals, 111 Yale L.J. 1259, 1279-80 (April 2002)(Hereinafter, “Katyal & Tribe”).  

The teachings of Milligan are as important today as they were then:

No graver question was ever considered by this court, nor one which  more nearly concerns the rights of the whole people, for it is the birthright of every American citizen when charged with crime, to be tried and punished according to law.  The power of punishment is, alone through the means which the laws have provided for that purpose, and if they are ineffectual there is an immunity from punishment, no matter how great an offender the individual may be, or how much his crimes may have shocked the sense of justice of the country, or endangered its safety. By that protection of the law human rights are secured; withdraw that protection, and they are at the mercy of wicked rulers, or the clamor of an excited people.

Id. at 119.  The Courts are open, and have been save September 11, 2001. Padilla should be released to civilian authorities, and if charges are to be presented, they must be presented to the grand jury who will then have the opportunity to return a bill or no bill.  The detention of Jose Padilla, or any American citizen by the military, can not be sanctioned.

   C.
The President’s Order Violates 18 USC 4001(a)
The President’s actions are in clear violation of 18 U.S.C. § 4001(a) which prohibits the detention of a United States citizen without a specific authorization by an act of congress.  Section 4001(a) of Title 18, states: “No citizen shall be imprisoned or otherwise detained by the United States except pursuant to an Act of Congress.” 

The House Committee Report which recommended the enactment of the bill, explained subsection “a” of the bill was meant to repeal the Emergency Detention Act 
 which the Committee noted served  no useful purpose, engendered fear and resentment on the part of American citizens, and was likely unconstitutional.  

“[T]he constitutional validity of the statute [The Emergency Detention Act] is subject to grave challenge. The Act permits detention of – each person as to whom there is reasonable ground to believe that such person probably will engage in, or probably will conspire with others to engage in, acts of espionage or of sabotage.  This criterion would seem to violate the Fifth Amendment by providing imprisonment not as a penalty for the commission of an offense, but on mere suspicion that an offense may occur in the future.  The Act permits detention without bail even though no offense has been committed or is charged.  In a number of ways the Act violates the First amendment.  In a number of ways, also the provisions of the Act for judicial review are inadequate in that they permit the government to refuse to divulge information essential to a defense.

H.R. Rep.92-116, 1971 U.S.C.C.A.N. 1435, 1438. (Emphasis added)

The committee went on to explain that they rejected the initial proposal of  repealing The Emergency Detention Act because a mere repeal would not send a sufficiently strong message that citizens can not be subject to detention on arbitrary executive action.

But the Committee believes that it is not enough merely to repeal the Detention Act.  The Act, concededly can be viewed as not merely as an authorization for, but also in some respects as a restriction on detention.  Repeal alone might leave citizens subject to arbitrary executive action, with no clear demarcation of the limits of executive authority. ...the Committee believes that imprisonment or other detention of citizens should be limited to situations in which a statutory authorization, an act of Congress exists.

Id. (emphasis added)  Chief Justice Burger, in addressing the statute,  wrote:  “the plain language of § 4001(a) proscribe[s] detention of any kind by the United States, absent a Congressional grant of authority to detain. Howe v. Smith, 425 U.S. 473, 479 n.3 (1981). 

The evil which this Act sought to eliminate, arbitrary executive detention without specific statutory authorization, sadly is the situation with which we are presented here. Padilla is being incarcerated without a charge, based on suspicion of possible future acts, in violation of his Fourth and Fifth Amendment rights. Jose Padilla has even been denied access to an attorney which is beyond what the Emergency Detention Act would have permitted. The action taken here by Respondents was explicitly precluded by Congress and can not stand.  

D. 
The President Lacked the Authority to Order the Military to Detain Padilla

and to Bar Padilla’s Access to Counsel                                                                                                                                    

President’s Bush’s authority must either come from an act of Congress or from the Constitution. See, Youngstown Sheet & Tube Co. v. Sawyer, 343 U.S. 579, 635 (1952).  Lacking such authority, the Order must be found to be illegal.

During the Korean War, in the face of a nationwide strike which would have effectively curtailed the production of steel, President Truman acting as Commander-in-Chief of the Armed Forces, ordered the Government to take possession of  the steel mills. Owners of the mill brought an action to contest the legality of the seizures arguing the seizure was illegal as it lacked congressional authorization.   The Supreme Court held that the President had exceeded his lawful authority. Id. at 579. 

Justice Jackson’s concurring opinion in Youngstown analyzed the limitations on the Executive power through a trilogy of situations and consequences.  In the first situation, the “President acts pursuant to an express or implied authorization of Congress, his authority is at its maximum, for it includes all that he possesses in his own right plus all that Congress can delegate.”  Id. at 636.  In the second situation, the President acts in the absence of either a congressional grant or denial of authority, his power falls within a “ zone of twilight in which he and Congress may have concurrent authority, or  in which its distribution is uncertain.” Id. at 637.  The third situation is “[w]hen the President takes measures incompatible with the expressed or implied will of Congress, his power is at its lowest ebb, for then he can rely only upon his own constitutional powers minus any constitutional powers of Congress over the matter”. Id. at 637.  The Youngstown trilogy  is useful to analyze whether, as the Petitioners contend, the President,  in violation of the separation of powers doctrine, has exceeded his power in ordering the military detention of Padilla.

1 Congress Has Not Authorized Padilla’s Detention
A.  
The Joint Resolution Does Not Provide Congressional Authorization 

1. 
The Joint Resolution Limits the Power

Conferred to the President
   
The Respondents points to Section 2(a) of the Joint Resolution as the operative language which authorizes the President’s Order, although they do not explain exactly how this congressional act provides such sweeping deprivation of Padilla’s liberties.(See, RB at 3 ) .  Section (2) states: “that the President is authorized to use all necessary and appropriate force against those nations, organizations, or person he determines planned, authorized, committed, or aided the terrorist attacks that occurred on September 11, 2001, or harbored such organizations or persons, in order to prevent any future acts of international terrorism against the United States by such nations, organizations or persons.” Pub.L.No. 107-40, 115 Stat. 224 § 2(a). Undoubtedly, the Joint Resolution is an authorization to use military force and affirms the President’s right as Commander-in-Chief to use force in self-defense within the confines of the War Powers Resolution.
  Id. § 2(b). However, its title-Authorization to Use Force- indicates that the Joint Resolution is not a declaration of war . This is further confirmed by the subsection (b)(2) which states that “Nothing in this resolution supercedes any requirement of the War Powers Resolution”.   The President’s understanding that Congress has not made a formal declaration of war is evidence by his regular reporting  to Congress on the need for continued military action, as required under the War Powers Resolution.  No such reporting is required under a declaration of war. 

Furthermore, while  the Joint Resolution refers to the destruction that occurred on September 11th  as “terrorist acts” and “acts of international terrorism”, nowhere does the Joint Resolution characterize the acts as “acts of war.”  Significantly, Congress rejected the proposed House Resolution which did declare that a state of war existed and declared war against those who planned and carried out the 9/11 attack .  Although there was little debate about the Resolution, nonetheless, the comments of the Congressman are telling as to their understanding of the limitation on the authority they were giving the President.  

Representative Conyers stated that “by not declaring war, the resolution preserves our precious civil liberties. This is important because declarations of war trigger broad statutes that not only criminalize interference with troops and recruitment but also authorize the President to apprehend “alien enemies”. 147 Cong. Rec. J5648, H5680 (daily ed. Sept. 14, 2001)(statement of Rep. Conyers). Senator Feingold’s remarks in particular address the authorization of power the Respondents claims was provided in the Resolution. 

I have some concern that reader may misinterpret the preamble language that the President has authority under the Constitution to take action to deter and prevent acts of international terrorism as a new grant of power; rather it is merely a statement that the president has existing constitutional powers.  I am gratified that in the body of this resolution it does not contain a broad grant of powers, but is appropriately limited to those entities involved in the attacks that occurred on September 11. 

Id. S9417 (Statement of Sen. Feingold); See also, Senator Levin statement,147 Cong. Rec. S9416(daily ed. Sept. 14, 2001)(making a similar point)
.  Reference to War Powers Resolution  was limiting language to avoid a broad grant of power to the President.

The difference between the power granted to the President by a formal declaration of war and that granted under the War Power Resolution can not be glossed over, especially in light of Respondent’s reliance on In re Quirin, 317 U.S. 1 (1942).  (See, generally RB).  In upholding President Roosevelt’s order subjecting eight German saboteurs to trial before a Military Commission, the Supreme Court in Quirin cited to specific Congressional authorization which provided for the President’s action. Id. at 24.  The Supreme Court also emphasized that in a declared war the powers granted to the President by Congress were at there fullest. Id.  On the other hand, President Bush is operating under specifically limited authorization to use force. He lacks the authorization upon which President Roosevelt’s actions were upheld.

1 The Joint Resolution is Limited to Those Associated Directly with 9/11
The Joint Resolution is limited to a narrowly defined group-those associated with the 9/11 attack. The intent of Congress to limit the scope of the authorization to September 11th is found in the language of the statute and in the statements of the Congressman at the time of its passage. For example,  Representative Sherman remarked: The “[R]esolution deals only with terrorists attacks of September 11th.”147 Cong. Rec. H5634 (daily ed. Sept. 14, 2001)(statement of Rep. Sherman).
 See also, Statement of Senator Byrd(“the use of force authority granted to the President extends only to the perpetrators of the September 11 attack). Id. at S9951.
Nothing in the Mobbs Declaration ties Padilla to the 9/11 attacks. Nowhere in the language of the Joint Resolution is there reference to enemy combatants.  Nowhere does the Joint Resolution suggest that Congress authorized the President to order the military detention of citizens, even a citizen terrorist.  Where the legislature deprives someone of a Constitutional right it does so in clear statement.  Kent v. Dulles, 357 U.S. 116, 129-30 (1958).    The Joint Resolution does not directly or even indirectly grant the President the authority to take the action he has against Padilla.

3.         Title 10 of the United States Code Does Not Authorize

the Military Arrest of a Citizen
The Respondents argues that by enacting sections 965(4) and (5) of Article 10 of the United States Code Congress authorized the detention of Jose Padilla by the Military. (RB 30-31).   These sections of the Code authorize funds to be used to cover the cost of housing all prisoners held by the military including Prisoners of War, deserters, and those absent without leave. To suggest that this appropriation bill provides authority for the President’s action is stretching the concept of Congressional authorization to the absurd. 

The Supreme Court has held that “the appropriation must plainly show a purpose to bestow the precise authority which is claimed.”Ex Parte Endo, 323 U.S. 283, 304 n.24 (Rejecting the Government’s argument that the Congress ratified the detention of loyal Japanese citizens by the appropriations of sums to the Authority for relocation).  An appropriation for funds to provide for prisoners of war etc., is not a ratification for the arrest of citizens by the military. The Respondent’s argument creates the situation that the President does not require specific Congressional approval but rather can straddle  power through an appropriation bill.  It amounts to a transfer of legislative power to the Executive branch and does not pass constitutional muster. Neal Katyal, Professor of Law, Georgetown University, On DOJ Oversight: Preserving Our Freedom While Defending Against Terrorism: Hearing On Review of Military Terrorism , Testimony Before the Senate Comm. On the Judiciary, 107th Cong.(11/28/02)(Hereinafter “Katyal testimony”)
. 

The United States Code is not Congressional authorization for the military to arrest civilians.  This lack of Congressional authorization is fatal to the validity of the President’s Order on which  Padilla is currently being held.

B.  
Constitutional Authority Is Lacking
The President’s Order can not stand because there is no independent basis under the Constitution which permits the President to take the action he has taken
. The Respondents err in claiming the  President’s actions fall within his constitutional power as Commander-in-Chief and his power to conduct foreign affairs. (RB 9-14). Further, the Order can not be sustained as an exercise of  power in the “public interest”, “war” powers, “emergency” powers or other such loosely conceived non-legal terms.  Such authority does not exist. Youngstown  343 U.S. at  647.

1. Commander-in-Chief-Military/National Security
The President’s detention of Padilla can not be condoned as an exercise of the President’s military power in the interest of national security.   The power granted to the President under the Commander-in Chief clause is not all encompassing. “The President’s ‘command power’ is not such an absolute as might be implied from that office in a militaristic system, but is subject to limitations consistent with a constitutional Republic whose law and policy making branch is a representative Congress. The purpose of lodging dual titles in one man was to insure that the civilian would control the military, not to enable the military to subordinate the presidential office.” Youngstown, 343 U.S. at 645-65 (Jackson, J. concurring).  The Government’s contentions to the contrary, the Constitution, not only does not authorize the Commander-in-Chief to take the action taken here, it precludes the President from taking such action. Timothy Lynch, Breaking The Vicious Cycle Preserving Our Liberties While Fighting Terrorism, 443 Cato Institute, pg. 10 (June 26, 2002)(Hereinafter “Lynch”)
.  “[T]he President should not  be permitted, simply by donning his military garb, to do in this country what he could never do in merely executive dress.” Katyal and Tribe at 1275.  Article II does not empower the President whether as Commander- in-Chief or in any other role, to designate himself as the policeman, the jury, and the judge as he has done here.

The Supreme Court has not hesitated to strike down executive branch action where the Government, without Congressional authorization, sought to justify its actions under the rubric of national security. For example, in United States v. United States District Court, 407 U.S. 297 (1972), the defendant was accused of the terrorist activity of dynamiting the C.I.A. office in Ann Arbor, Michigan.  At trial the defense sought disclosure of various wiretap evidence which had not been authorized by the Court.  The Government responded that the wiretap had been approved by the Attorney General to gather intelligence information as “a reasonable exercise of the President’s power (exercised through the Attorney General) to protect the national security.” Id. at 299-301.  In rejecting the Government’s argument and finding a violation of  the Fourth Amendment, the Court stated: “Those charged with ... investigative and prosecutorial duty should not be the sole judges of when to utilize constitutionally sensitive means in pursuing their tasks.” Id. at 316-17.  The arguments and claims of the Government there is analogous to the arguments advanced by Respondents here in support of the President’s action.  This Court should , as the Supreme Court did in United States District Court, strike down this illegal use of power. 

2.
Executive-Foreign Relations
Respondents also suggest the President’s detention of Padilla is pursuant to his exclusive power in the area of foreign relations-that “the president [is] the sole organ of the federal government in the field of international relations...”( RB10-11,citing to United States v. Curtiss-Wright Export Corp., 299 U.S. 304, 320 (1936)).  The President’s power in the area of foreign relations relates to his exclusive ability to negotiate with foreign sovereigns (e.g .in treaty negotiations) and those things which bear directly upon our foreign relations with foreign governments. See, eg. Curtiss-Wright Export Corp, supra (President’s declaration of embargo of  munitions sales upheld where President actions based on his consultation with the governments of  the American Republics); see also, Dames & Moore v. Regan, 453 U.S. 654 (1981).  Justice Sutherland, author of the majority opinion in Curtiss-Wright emphasized that the president’s “sole organ” power is limited to foreign affairs and does not extend to domestic affairs where the President is constrained by the need for congressional authorization. 299 U.S. at 320. And while the Respondents suggest that the “sole organ” doctrine is all encompassing, the Supreme Court does not. Youngstown at 635-36 n.2 (Jackson, J., concurring).  Curtiss-Wright merely permitted broader-than-usual delegations of power from Congress to the President in the realm of foreign affairs; it did not go so far as to make such delegation, superfluous. Id. 

Respondent’s reliance on United States v. Lindh, 2002 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 12682 (D.C.Va. 7/12/02) is misplaced.  John Walker Lindh, an American citizen, was captured on the battlefield in Afghanistan fighting with the Taliban and returned to the United States where he was prosecuted in federal court. Lindh asserted as an affirmative defense immunity under the Geneva Convention as a prisoner of War.  The Lindh Court noted that the issue of  whether or not  Lindh was entitled to lawful combatant immunity in part turned on President Bush’s interpretation of the Geneva Convention’s definition of the two types of combatants.  Finding the President’s interpretation of the treaty reasonable as applied to Lindh, the court denied Lindh the affirmative defense. Lindh, 2002 U.S.Dist. LEXIS * 38-42.   President Bush has declared the Geneva Convention is not applicable to all those he has designated enemy combatants which are all those he has determined are associated with al Queda or the Taliban. But see, United v. Noriega, 808 F. Supp. 791 (S.D.F.L. 1992 ). Therefore, the deference accorded to the President’s interpretation of an international treaty as in the Lindh case, has no application here. 

Nothing about Padilla’s detention relates to the President’s external relationships with a foreign nation.  Rather the President’s Order directly relates to law enforcement. (See, discussion, Posse Comitatus Act, supra). The actions in which the President speculated Padilla was involved do not concern relationships with other countries but rather, concern what Congress has clearly determined to be domestic law enforcement matters. Therefore, it is inaccurate to state that the President’s actions here related to his authority in foreign relations.

3.
Congress has Not Abdicated Its Power to The President
In this case, we do not have here a situation where the President has taken the same action before and Congress has acquiesced or enacted closely related legislation in which Congress has given the President discretion to act in similar circumstances. See, Dames & Moore 453 U.S. at 680. (“Crucial to our decision today is the conclusion that Congress has implicitly approved the practice of claim settlement by executive agreement.).  Rather, here the President has taken a unique position.  There is no other related or similar legislation in which Congress granted the President the authority to arrest a citizen and deny a citizen his constitutional rights.  On the contrary,  as discussed above, Congress has specifically denied authorization for the action the President has taken here.  See, discussion, infra, 18 USC § 4001(a). 

 

4.  
Exceptions   - None
Although Respondents’ brief does not directly seek to excuse  Presidential actions on the basis of some emergency power, Attorney General Ashcroft in his statements on June 10, 2001 suggested that the arrest of Padilla was necessary to avoid another attack like 9/11.  See, Aschroft Statement, fn.4 of this brief.
  The Constitution recognizes no “emergency powers,” whether for the President, or for other branches of the federal government. See, Christopher Evans, Note:Terrorism on Trial: the President’s Constitutional Authority To Order The Prosecution Of  Suspected Terrorists By Military Commission, 51 Duke L.J. 1831,1841 (April 2002)(Hereinafter “Evans”)(quoting, Louis Henkin, Foreign Affairs and the U.S. Constitution, 53 (2d Ed. 1996))(quotation marks omitted). The President’s powers at all times are limited to those conferred by the Constitution or authorized by Congress.  

The facts in this case dispel the notation that the President acted upon some emergency. The information available to the Administration at the time of  Padilla’s arrest in May was substantially the same as a month later when the President ordered Padilla’s military detention for questioning.  Clearly, any conceivable pressing emergency was quelled during the month Padilla spent at the MCC.   The President ordered  Padilla to be transferred to the military two days before this Court was expected to rule on the legality of his detention.  It is respectfully submitted that it was not exigency which prompted the President to Order Padilla’s arrest by the military, rather Padilla was transferred to the military due to mistrust of coordinate branch of government , namely this Court and the judicial process.

C.  
Congress Has Enacted Legislation Which Deals Directly

With the Issues at Hand
Under Justice Jackson’s three part analyzes, the instant matter falls into the third category where  Congress has enacted legislation on the issue and accordingly, the President’s power is at its lowest.  The Constitution specifically vests in the Congress the power: To define and punish offenses against the Law of Nations; To make rules concerning captures on land and water; and to make Rules for the government and regulation of the land and naval forces. U.S. Const. Article I sec. 8.  The law of war falls within the Law of Nations. Congress has passed legislation specifically, both barring the action taken by the President (see, discussion infra, 18 USC § 4001(a)) and defining as criminal within the federal penal code the conduct of which Padilla is alleged to have participated.

Congress has criminalize terrorism and given the federal courts jurisdiction. Over the last fifteen years, Congress enacted legislation which addresses domestic and international acts of terrorism. See, e.g.18 U.S.C. § 2331; 18 U.S.C. § 2332a & b; and USA Patriot Act of 2002. The most recent legislation enacted in response to 9/11, USA Patriot Act, greatly expanded federal criminal prohibitions on terrorism. Pub. L. 107-56, §§ 802, 8032, 805, 808, amending 18 U.S.C. §§ 2331,2339,2339A, 2339B. Clearly, Congress has specifically addressed the conduct the Mobb Declaration attributes to Padilla.

Notably, neither the sections of the criminal code relating to terrorism, nor the USA Patriot Act, contain a provision which permits the President to order the military to seize and detain citizens within the United States. Congress has  not precluded attorney-client communication from any class of citizens.  President Bush did not include in the proposal he submitted to Congress for inclusion in the Patriot  Act, authority for the military detention of  citizen.  Rather, the President chose to by-pass the legislative process and has unilaterally issued a rule with respect to Padilla.  (Lynch pg. 10). 

Further, the President when signing the Patriot’s Act stated that the legislation would enable the police “to identify, to dismantle, to disrupt, and to punish terrorists before they strike.”Remarks by the President Bush at Signing of the Patriot Act Anti-Terrorism Legislation, October 26, 2001. It is difficult to balance this clear statement by the President that act of terrorism will be treated as criminal conduct with Padilla’s detention by the military.

In sum, the President actions can not be condoned through the authority granted to him as Commander-in-Chief, or his authority in the area of foreign relations. Congress has not granted to him nor delegated to him the power he asserted. Congress has enacted laws which specifically address the offenses for which the Administration claim Padilla has engaged and prohibit the action the President has taken.  Over two hundred years ago, James Madison warned that “[t]he accumulation of all powers, legislative, executive and judiciary in the same hands, whether of one, a few or many, and whether hereditary, self appointed, or elective, nay justly be pronounced the very definition of tyranny.” Federalist No. 47 (Cooke ed., 1961), at 324. We should take heed.

Point II

THE PRESIDENT’S DETERMINATION THAT 

PADILLA IS AN ENEMY COMBATANT IS IMPROPER

A. 
The Deference Demanded by Respondent is Unwarranted;

A Searching Inquiry Into The Basis For the Determination Is Required
Were this Court to conclude the President had the authorization Respondents’ claim, the degree of deference demanded by the Respondents is inappropriate.  The correct standard should be one sensitive to avoid infringement on civil liberties. “Trust me” can not be sufficient where at stake are the rights of a citizen. Katyal & Tribe, pg.1263, n16.  “[T]he phrase ‘war power’ cannot be invoked as a talismanic incantation to support an exercise of ...power which can be brought within its ambit.  Even the war power does not remove constitutional limitations safeguarding essential liberties.” United States v. Robel, 398 U.S. 258, 264 (1967); see, Raymond v. Thomas, 91 U.S. 712, 716 (1875).  Justice Marshall in his dissenting opinion in Rostker v. Goldberg observed: “[T]hat even in the area of military affairs, deference to congressional judgments cannot be allowed to shade  into abdication of  this Court’s ultimate responsibility.” 453 U.S.57, 89 (1981); see also, Sterling v. Constantin, 287 U.S. 378, 401 (1932). To paraphrase Justice O’Connor, blind deference to legislative or executive pronouncements of necessity have no place in a due process analysis. Richmond v. J.A. Conson, Co., 488 U.S. 469, 501 (1989)   The “some evidence standard” urged by the Respondents hardly permits a meaningful review. It is a call for a judicial rubber stamp.  

This call for judicial abdication has previously been argued by the Respondents in the same terms as argued here and  resoundingly rejected. See e.g., United States v. Robel, 407 U.S. 297, 318-19(1972)(“The standard of judicial inquiry must also recognize that the ‘concept’ of  ‘national defense’ cannot be deemed an end in itself, justifying an exercise of [executive] power designed to promote such a goal.); United States v. Lindh, 2002 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 12683(Deference does not mean  “conclusive deference” or “judicial abstention”); Hamdi v. Rumsfeld, 296 F.3d 278 (4th Cir. 2002)(A meaningful review of enemy combatant status is required ), on remand, Hamdi v. Rumsfeld, E. Dist. Va, Norfolk, Div.,Civ. 2:02-439, Order, 8/16/02 pg. 2 (“While it is clear that the executive is entitled to deference regarding military designations of  individuals, it is equally clear that the judiciary is entitled to a meaningful judicial review of these designations when they substantially infringe on the individual liberties, guaranteed by the United States Constitution, of American citizens.”).

Much of Respondent’s brief is devoted to their claim that this Court must accord the President’s determination of Padilla’s status great deference, yet, not one case cited supports their contention that Padilla’s status can not be factually refuted.  Further, in the cases upon which the designation of a combatant’s status is raised, Congressional authorization was the determinative for the Court’s deferring to the Executive Branch’s designation. In re Quirin, 317 U.S. 1 (1942); Colepaugh v. Looney, 235 F.2d 429 (10th Cir. 1956)
. Such authority is lacking here.

Judicial deference to a President’s decision is warranted with respect to the conduct of “military commanders engaged in day-to-day fighting in a theater of war” Youngstown, 343 U.S. at 587; see also, Hamdi v. Rumsfeld, 296 F.3d 278 , Ex parte Endo, 323 U.S. 283, 302 (1944).  However, such deference is much less when the President purports to exercise his power as Commander-in-Chief at home. The degree of deference afforded an Executive branch’s decision to detain a citizen diminishes by the degree to which the detention is unrelated to foreign policy, national security, or military affairs. Youngstown, 343 U.S. at 587. 
The Prize Cases, 67 U.S.635 (1862), upon which Respondents place reliance do not lend support to Respondents’ position as to Padilla. In this Civil War case, ships were seized which were alleged to be owned by neutrals and which had left Confederate controlled ports after the President had imposed an embargo, which was authorized by Congress on trade with the Confederate states. The issue before the Court was not the seizure of  a citizen, not the determination of a citizen’s status under the law of war, but rather whether the President had the right to issue the embargo as part of the war effort. The Prize Cases arise out of a battlefield circumstance, unlike the circumstances surrounding Padilla’s case. Similarly, both Hamdi and Lindh  which likewise concerned capture on the battlefield are unavailing. 


Respondent’s reliance on Moyer v. Peaboy, 212 U.S. 78 (1909) is misplaced. (RB 14)  The Moyer case arose out a series of violent labor disputes.  The state of Colorado was the scene of murderous acts by both sides of the dispute.  To restore civil order, the Governor called up the National Guard.  Moyer, who was the President of one of the labor unions was arrested and detained for approximately two and a half months.  While he was detained, he sought but was denied relief by Writ of Habeas Corpus from the Courts of the state of Colorado. Id. at 82.

The matter before the Supreme Court was not a suit to contest the legality of Moyer’s detention, but rather was an appeal from the dismissal of his suit which sought damages caused by his detention.  Justice Holmes, writing for the Court, noted that Moyer was released as soon as it was safe to do so.  Justice Holmes noted that a longer period of detention would have raised a different issue.  Moyer was seized on what can be described as the battlefield. The “necessities of the moment” that the Court relied on in its Moyer do not exist to validate the detention of Padilla. 

The Respondents’ point to Able v. United States, 155 F.3d 628 (2d Cir. 1998) as an example of  where the Court gave deference to decisions made in the “military domain”.  Respondents quotation from Able, however, is out of context and distorts the deference the Second Circuit found there to be appropriate. (RB14). The deference which the Second Circuit applied in Able was “based on factors which are unique to military life.”Id. at 634-35.  

Able was a challenge to the legality of the statute which enacted the “don’t ask - don’t tell” policy on homosexuals serving in the military.  The Court noted that this legislation had been the subject of extensive Congressional debate and hearings and therefore, found that it was required to give “great deference to Congressional judgements in matters affecting the military.” Id at 632.  The matter before this Court does not concern membership in the military. The Respondents distort the

meaning of the Able decision to suggest that the same degree of judicial deference should be shown to decisions by the military affecting those outside the military as is appropriate for a review of a determination by the military as to its own membership. In addition, here the issue is not Congressional legislation which was enacted after debate but rather the unilateral action of the President
.

The Respondents also err in its suggesting the deference due here is the same as the deference due an agency determination.(RB 13-14).  The Supreme Court has ruled  an agency interpretation of an Act; or its ruling should be accorded deference because Congress has delegated the authority to the agency. Adams Fruit Co. v. Barrett, 494 U.S. 638, 649 (1990).  This is not the case here. Congress has not, and could not delegate its power to declare war, and its power to declare crimes and punishment. Courts also do not defer to agency determinations when “Congress “has directly spoken to the precise question at issue.” Chevron U.S.A.  v. Nat. Resources Def. Council, 467 U.S. 837, 842 (1984). As explained above, Congress has spoken to the issue and barred the action taken here. (See, discussion supra).  Further, even in agency rulings, Courts will not defer where their position is “wholly unsupported by regulations, rulings, or administrative practice.” Smiley v. Citibank, 517 U.S. 735, 741(1996). 

  Many of the cases which are cited in Respondents’ brief concern the rights of non-U.S. citizens and thus, do not impact upon the Courts determination here. E.g., Ludecke v. Watkins, 335 U.S. 160 (1948)(Petitioner was a German citizen who fought his deportation under the Alien Enemy Act); Johnston v. Eistrager, 339 U.S. 763 (1950)(Petitioner was a German soldier, a non-citizen, in custody overseas who sought review of a writ of habeas corpus in federal court); Hirota v. MacArthur, 338 U.S, 197 (1947)(Court refused to review decision of military tribunal set up in Japan by United States General acting as an agent for the Allied Powers because it was not a tribunal of the United States)
.  
In sum, Respondents fail to support a conclusion that this Court should rubber stamp the President’s determination nor should this Court be deterred from conducting  a searching inquiry into the basis for the President’s Order.
B.   
Counsel’s Lack of Access to Padilla Reduces the Effectiveness of Judicial Review
Respondents’ actions of denying Padilla access to counsel has frustrated any attempt of meaningful judicial review.  It is ironic that Respondents suggests that Padilla does not contest the facts alleged in the Mobbs Declaration when counsel has not previously seen the Mobbs Declaration, the President’s Order of June 9, 2002 and had no access to Padilla to discuss his version of events.  The best Padilla can do is the affidavit of Donna R. Newman attached as Exhibit A.   In sharp contrast to the current situation, the court deciding Lindh  had before it both version of the events relating to Lindh’s combatant’s status. United States v. Lindh, 2002 U.S.Dist. LEXIS at* 38-40. 

Representative Barney Frank, dismayed by the circumstances of Padilla’s and Hamdi’s detention, in a statement before the House of Representatives urged  that a these citizens should be permitted a meaningful review of the President’s Order.  Such review must include permitting them to challenge the lawfulness of the detention, with the assistance of counsel, at a judicial proceeding. Representative Barney Frank, “Fighting Terrorism Does Not Mean Ignoring Our Own Constitution”, Remarks, 107th Cong. Rec. E1072 June 17, 2002
 .   It has been said that “[f]rom time immemorial despots have used real or imagined threats to the public welfare as an excuse for needlessly abrogating human rights. That excuse is no less unworthy of our traditions when used in this day of atomic warfare or at a future time when some other type of warfare may be devised”.Duncan, 327 U.S. at 330.  Any meaningful judicial review which comports with due process and fundamental fairness must allow Padilla to refute the Mobbs Declaration. Counsel must be permitted to confer with Padilla to effectively challenge the allegations of the Respondents.  

C.  
The Determination That Padilla is an Unlawful

Combatant Has No Basis in Fact or Law

1. 
The Respondent’s Reliance On Quirin is Misplaced

a.
Quirin  Has Little or No Application to the Issues

Presented in Padilla’s Petition
The President has ordered the military detention of Jose Padilla as an enemy combatant.  To sustain his detention Respondents rely on the Supreme Court’s decision in In re Quirin 317 U.S. 1 (1942) and the law and customs of war.  The Respondent’s reliance on Quirin to uphold the detention of an American citizen seized in America distorts Quirin beyond its limited holding.  To suggest that the law of war can sustain the detention of Padilla, distorts the law of war beyond recognition.

Quirin, also referred to as the “saboteurs” case,  concerned  German soldiers who landed in two  different groups, one group on the shore of Amagansett Beach on Long Island and the other in Florida. The issue before the Court in Quirin was the venue for the trial(i.e. civilian court as opposed to military commission) not the legality of the saboteurs’ conduct. “We are not here concerned with any question of the guilt or innocence of petitioners.” Id. at 24 & fn. 4.  The Supreme Court holding, narrowly drawn, confirmed that petitioners were lawfully detained for trial by the Military Commission upon order of  President Roosevelt. Id. at 47. “We hold only that those particular acts constitute an offense against the law of war which the Constitution
 authorizes to be tried by military commission.” Quirin, 317 U.S. at 45-46.  Padilla’s petition does not concern the lawfulness of military commissions 
.

 The case came before the Supreme Court on stipulated facts. There was no dispute that the Quirin defendants  were German soldiers, that the United States had declared war on Germany, that the defendants entered the United States surreptitiously aboard German submarines, that the defendants discarded their uniforms, that they were armed with explosives and orders to commit acts of sabotage.  In short, it was stipulated that they were soldiers, out of uniform and caught behind enemy lines. Quirin, 375 U.S. at 320.  The determination that the saboteurs were “enemy combatants” was made by President Roosevelt who was acting under the full power granted to him by a congressional declaration of war.  Here it is based on the President’s authority is more limited.  This Petition does not come before this Court on stipulated facts 
 . At issue in this case, is the very legality of  the determination not the venue of the trial.

The Quirin Court, traced President Roosevelt’s authority to order the saboteurs to be tried by a military tribunal to Articles 15, 81, and 82 of the Articles of War. Id. 24. In the instant case, Congress has not  formally declared war and has specifically limited the scope of the authorization to use force. (See, discussion, supra).  Unlike the aforementioned Articles of War, the Joint Resolution does not have language even remotely similar to Articles 15, 81 and 82.  Authorization for the actions taken here can not be traced to any Congressional Act or grant of Constitutional authority.  Additionally, the current Uniform Code of Military Justice does not and cannot apply to Padilla.  See 10 USC § 802.

 Saboteurs at their trial were represented by counsel. Louis Fisher, Military Tribunals: The Quirin Precedent, Congressional Research Service, (“CSR”) March 26, 2002, pg. 6 (Hereinafter “Fisher CSR”).  Quirin, therefore, does not support Respondents’ bar of Padilla’s counsel and Respondents’ contention that an enemy combatant is to be denied counsel. (See, Katyal Testimony).  On the contrary, the Supreme Court recognized  that the  use of tribunals may be conditioned by the Sixth Amendment. Id. at 38. Quirin likewise does not support the Respondents’ contention that enemy combatants have no due process rights.  Unlike, Padilla, all the saboteurs had an opportunity to contest the charges and the facts alleged in  the charging instrument at their trial.  As  Justice Douglas, a Justice in Quirin observed: The Quirin ruling did not abrogate all of an accused [unlawful combatant’s]  rights covered by the Fifth and the Sixth Amendments.  Burns v. Wilson, 346 U.S. 137, 152 (1953)(Douglas, J., dissenting).

Moreover, the Quirin opinion must be viewed within the prospective of its time. “[T]he constitutional landscape has changed so significantly since World War II  that a precedent like Quirin, weakened as well by recent revelations of the questionable circumstances surrounding the decision like Korematsu
, whose force as precedent has been diminished by subsequent events, rather than with those whose undiminished momentum counsels maintenance under principles of stare decisis.” (Katyal & Tribe, pg. 1304).  There are international treaties.

It is simply inappropriate to suggest that Quirin, a decision which has hardly been revered by scholars, can serve as the legal justification for a detention under entirely different circumstances. Commentators have called into the question the precedential value of Quirin.
   Supreme Court Justices involved in the decision have expressed second thoughts about the its wisdom.
   Additionally, the developments in both domestic and international  law since Quirin has  impacted upon its value.  (Katyal & Tribe, pg. 1304) None the least of which are criminal laws which provide

severe penalties for terrorist which did not exist at the time of the saboteurs case
 .

b.     
The President’s Determination of Padilla As An Enemy

Combatant Is At Odds With  In re Quirin
The Supreme Court in In re Quirin defined an unlawful combatant as “[t]he spy who secretly and without uniform passes the military lines of a belligerent in time of war, seeking to gather military information and communicate it to the enemy, or an enemy combatant who without uniform comes secretly through the lines for the purpose of waging war by destruction of life or property, are familiar examples of belligerents who are generally deemed not to be entitled to the status of prisoners of war, but to be offenders against the law of war subject to trial and punishment by military tribunals.”  317 U.S. 1, 31 (1942). “Authorities [are] unanimous that it was not actions of the belligerent that set a lawful apart from an unlawful belligerent, but rather the belligerent’s  removal of his uniform upon passing into enemy territory.”See, Id. at 35, fn. 12.  It is this definition upon which the Administration has relied for determining Padilla is an enemy combatant. 

Padilla does not fit the criteria. Padilla arrived at O’Hare International Airport in Chicago via a commercial airliner possessing his valid American Passport. His entrance can hardly be characterized as a surreptitious. He wore civilian clothes.  He never had a uniform.  Padilla is  not a member of any army or even a member of al Queda. See, Mobbs Declaration, ¶ 10 . He is not associated with an organized army or an “enemy state”. (See, discussion supra, “Law of War”)  He came from Zurich, Switzerland into the United States. He did not pass from enemy lines or through enemy lines.  Padilla brought with him his clothes, not material to construct a bomb. He hid nothing. There was nothing covert about his actions. See, Quirin at 36-38. He arrived to visit with his family and specifically, went to Chicago to visit with his son. It is questionable that the acts Padilla is alleged to have committed constitute a violation of the law of war as understood today.  The United Nations War Crimes Commission, Law Reports of Trial of War Criminals, (1949) Vol. XV, pg. 90 (Although, conspiracy to commit the crime of waging aggressive war is an accepted offense, the separate offense of conspiracy to commit war crimes against humanity is not.) Padilla is not an unlawful enemy combatant.

c.  
Unlike in Quirin ,the Law of Wars Are Not Applicable to

the Facts and Circumstances Alleged Here
The Court in Quirin was operating in the  setting of a declared war between two nation states. Respondents are asking this Court to apply laws of war as they existed 1941 and as applied in Quirin, to the current circumstance to which the customs and law of war were never intended to apply.

The law of war was designed to limited the battlefield horrors of combat between nation states.  The laws of war has developed with the understanding that “war is not an end in itself, but a means to obtain certain political objectives”, the belligerents normally cannot limit their attention to the actual conduct of the war, but have also to take account the post-war situation and the necessity of some kind of relations with their former enemy.” A. Rosas, The Legal Status of Prisoners of War, (1976) [herein after cited as “Rosas.”]  This view of war is clearly the view of war between nation states who recognize that they have a common interest to limit the ravages of war.  It is this fundamental understanding that underlie the international pacts such as the Hague Conventions and the Geneva Conventions. These pacts seek to limit the horrors of battlefield combat so that full military power will not prevent the restoration of peaceful relations in the future. This common interest is absent during armed conflicts that occur between a nation state such as the United States and a non-nation state, such as al Queda.

The reason for the limits on wars between nation states, inevitable dealings with former enemies in the future, do not exist in armed conflicts between nation states  and other groups.   The wars between societies representing different social and cultural systems are particularly unrestrained.  Rosas, page 19 note 16.  Historically, nation states do not recognize the legitimacy of such combatants and label them - unlawful belligerents.  To recognize combatants who fight for a non-nation state or an unrecognized political entity as soldiers, lawful combatants, would require the nations state to recognize the sovereignty of the cause for which they fight.  

President Bush has refused to recognize Taliban or al Qaeda fighters as lawful combatants.  66 Fed. Reg. 57. 833.  In 1862, the United States refused to recognize the Sioux as lawful combatants because to do so would have required the United States to “recognize their sovereignty and their inherent right to wage war.”  P. Maguire, Law and War, An American Story, page 32 (2000).

It is these contrasting views of the law of war that show the underlying conceptual error in the Respondents’ reliance on Quirin and its interpretation of the law of war. The factual basis (soldiers sworn to serve an enemy state in a time of declared war) and the philosophical basis for a limited war between nation states that were present in Quirin are both absent in this instant matter. In the current conflict the United States is not waging a war against a nation state, nor does the Government anticipate establishing peaceful relations with either the Taliban or al Qaeda at the end of the current conflict. In that sense the United States is engaged in a “total” war against al Qaeda. 

The Respondents rely inappropriately on the legal construct designed to limit battlefield devastation in wars between nation states to justify Padilla’s detention.  There was no combat in Chicago in May of this year.  Contrary to the Respondents’ suggestion, the whole world is not a battlefield.  All wars are not created equal. The legal precedent relating to the law of war from a war between nation states is inapplicable to the current conflict.  

2. 
The Factual Basis For Finding Padilla Is An Enemy Combatant
Offered By Respondent’s Does Not Support The Determination
a.
The Facts As Alleged by Respondent’s Do Not Support 

A Finding that Padilla Is An Enemy Combatant

In support of the President’s classification of Padilla as an enemy combatant, the Respondent offers only the Mobbs Declaration.  The Declaration of Michael H. Mobbs is based primarily on information provided by two sources.  Mr. Mobbs indicates in Footnote #1 they are of questionable reliability.  

Paragraph 4 of the Declaration summarizes Padilla’s criminal history.  While this information is assumed to be from a more reliable source, it is not relevant to Padilla’s combatant status.  Paragraph 5 of the Declaration outlines Padilla’s travels and this information is also assumed to be from a more reliable source.  

The majority of the Declaration consists of conclusory statements without providing any indication of the reliability of the sources.  For example, at paragraph 5 the Declaration states that “...Padilla has been closely associated with known members and leaders of the al Qaeda terrorist network.” The Declaration does not define the term “closely associated,” fails to provide a factual basis for that conclusion, nor does it indicate the reliability of the source of that information. The Declaration does not say if that information was learned by United States or foreign law enforcement agents or how many channels the information passed before it reached law enforcement.  Thus, it is impossible to determine the level of hearsay upon which  the Declaration is based.  It also does not indicate which, if any of the information, concerning Padilla’s overseas activities have been corroborated by other intelligence sources. 

The Declaration at ¶ 7 states that Padilla and an associate conducted research in the construction of a dirty bomb.  This research appears to have been limited to looking at an unnamed website.  Padilla is a man of limited education. The Declaration gives no explanation of what “research” was done.

The Declaration shows a tendency to convert a belief into a fact.  Paragraph 9 of the Declaration describes conversation between Padilla and al Qaeda members.  The Declaration does not say that any source was present for these conversations.  The Declaration states that “It is believed that al Qaeda members directed Padilla to return to the United States to conduct reconnaissance and/or other attacks on behalf of Al Qaeda.”  One paragraph later this belief is now a fact. 
Paragraph 10 states  Padilla “was sent to the United States to conduct reconnaissance and/or other attacks...”

Paragraph 8 of the Declaration, while conceding that the “plan was in the initial planning stages” indicates that the target of the dirty bomb was “possibly in Washington, D.C” and that the plan included stealing radioactive material within the United States.  The Declaration does not state that  Padilla had ever been to Washington, D.C., that he had any knowledge of the Washington, D.C. area or that  Padilla had any knowledge about handling radioactive material.

The information upon which the President relied in determining  Padilla’s status appear to include references to Padilla’s criminal history but not a indication that Padilla was unwilling to become a martyr.  A review of an individuals criminal history may  be relevant in a criminal proceeding either in considering the issue of bail or at sentencing, but a persons criminal history is not relevant to their status as a combatant. It is respectfully submitted that Padilla’s criminal history was included to imply to the President that Padilla’s rights were less worthy of protection.  The issue of martyrdom is relevant to show Padilla’s lack of devotion to the cause for which he is alleged to have been a combatant. Counsel cannot even begin to speculate as to why the President was not told of Padilla’s unwillingness to become a martyr but this failure does show that the President was not given all relevant information.

The facts known to the Respondents were essentially the same when the Government sought to detain Padilla as a material witness as when the President ordered his transfer to the military.  These facts establish, at most, a person who was not willing to be a martyr but who was in the beginning talk stage of a plan for a crime that had neither target, timetable, nor access to materials to build the weapon under discussion.  These facts are insufficient to establish even an attempt at a crime.  Later investigation has called the validity of even these facts into question.
  These facts fall short of establishing that  Padilla was a combatant.  See, Hamdi v. Rumsfeld, E. Dist. Va, Norfolk, Div.,Civ. 2:02-439, Order, pg. 12.  These “facts” may be sufficient to bring  Padilla before an investigative body, but they are not sufficient to warrant a finding that Padilla is an enemy combatant.

b.
The Respondents Offers No Rational Explanation For

Padilla’s Change in Status Without a Change in Facts

 
 Padilla was initially detained as a material witness to a grand jury investigation.  Before  Padilla was seized in Chicago on May 8, 2002, the Respondent asked this Court to sign an order finding that  Padilla was a material witness for a grand jury investigation.  As part of that application, the Respondent submitted  information to the Court which essentially is the same in all material respects to the information contained in the Mobbs Declaration.

   
One would have hoped that the dramatic change in Padilla’s status would be prompted by the revelation of some extraordinary fact, but the Mobbs Declaration tells the same general story, based on the same questionable sources as appeared in the application for the material witness warrant.  One would presume that the Respondents would not transfer a citizen to military custody except upon the application of a high standard. While a grand jury investigation “may be triggered by tips, rumors, evidence proffered by the prosecutor, or the personal, knowledge of the grand juror,”  Branzburg v. Hayes, 408 U.S. 665, 702 (1972).  The determination that a citizen is an enemy combatant  should be made upon a critical assessment of the information
, not upon supposition and rumors.  At a minimum the information should have a high degree of reliability. That certainly is not the case here, where both submissions are based on hearsay and unreliable sources.  

In short, the Respondents offer no explanation for the reason Padilla’s change of status or the standard by which the President made that determination. See, Hamdi     Rather the Respondents insist that the Court is without authority to inquire into the standard applied by the President. Accordingly, under Respondents’ argument even a Presidential whim is sufficient. It is respectfully submitted that Padilla’s military detention based on the allegations contained in the Mobbs Declaration cannot be tolerated in a Constitutional Democracy.   

POINT III

PADILLA’S HAS BEEN DENIED HIS RIGHTS UNDER THE SIXTH AMENDMENT
Prosecutorial discretion is a uniquely Executive prerogative.  The Government can seek to prosecute Padilla if they have sufficient evidence to obtain an indictment. With the recent amendments to the Criminal Code enacted by the passage of the Patriot Act, there are a laundry list of crimes that Padilla arguably could be charged with by a creative prosecutor.  On the other hand, the Government is free to decline to prosecute Padilla.  What Respondents cannot lawfully do, is detain Padilla indefinitely without counsel.  

As discussed above,  Padilla was originally detained as a material witness to the Grand Jury which is part of a criminal proceeding. See, In re Doe, 2002 U.S.Dist. LEXIS 13234 (S.D.N.Y.  July 11, 2002).  Counsel was assigned to represent him.
Respondents have endeavored to metamorphose a grand jury detention into a military detention.  As Respondents correctly contend, the Sixth Amendment rights usually commence when the Government seeks to haul a single defendant into Court. This case, however, concerns not when the right to counsel begins, but the right of the Respondents to interfere with an existing attorney-client relationship.  It is respectfully submitted that Respondents have no right to interfere with previously existing attorney-client relationship. 

Respondent argues that the Sixth Amendment is not applicable to Padilla as an enemy combatant.(RB at 22).  Respondent quotes Middenorf v. Henry, 425 U.S. 25 (1975) to stand for the proposition that there may be proceedings which result in the loss of liberty but that are not criminal proceedings which would trigger among other things the Sixth Amendment rights to counsel and a speedy trial. While Respondents accurately quote from Middenorf, the quoted section is inappropriate to the instant matter.  Middenorf involved a class action suit by Marine Corp enlisted personnel challenging the authority of the military to try them in “summary courts-martial” without the assistance of counsel.  The court found that the summary court-martial was a proceeding that was unique to the military and that no enlisted person could be tried in a summary court-martial unless they consented to such a proceeding. By law the confinement is limited to no more than one month. Rule 1301 (d)(1), Rules for Courts Martial.

Padilla is not a member of any branch of the American military.  He clearly did not consent to his current detention and he has been detained for months longer than the longest possible sentence that could be imposed by the summary court-martial which the Supreme Court upheld in Middenorf.  There is no question that Padilla has been denied counsel and in circumstances which require counsel’s assistance and guidance.  The bar on counsel is unconstitutional. This Court should direct that Counsel be permitted to meet with Padilla immediately.

POINT IV

PADILLA’S DETENTION BY THE MILITARY 

VIOLATES THE POSSE COMITATUS ACT

The Posse Comitatus Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1385, and the regulations under that statute bar the military from becoming involved in civilian law enforcement. The Posse Comitatus Act was intend to separate the military from civilian law enforcement.  The concern underlying the Posse Comitatus Act is potential abuse of the military. “History tells us that Americans are suspicious of military authority as a dangerous tool of dictatorial power – dangerous, that is, to freedom of individual.” United States v. MacArthur, (1975, DC ND, VanSickle, J) 419 F.Supp. 186, 193, affd., 541 F.2d 1275 (8th Cir. 1976), cert. denied, 430 U.S. 970 (1977).  In Bissonette v. Haig, 776 F.2d 1384 (8th Cir. 1985), affd. 485 U.S. 264 (1988), the Eight Circuit found that:

Civilian rule is basic to our system of government. The use of military forces to seize civilians can expose civilian government to the threat of military rule and the suspension of constitutional liberties.  On a lesser scale, military enforcement of civil law leaves the protection of vital Fourth and Fifth Amendment rights in the hands of persons who are not trained to uphold the rights. Id. at 1387

What these courts described as mere fear and suspicion have become reality for Jose Padilla.  Padilla has committed no act of war, any conduct that he is alleged to have performed or contemplated has been addressed by Congress, (post 9/11) as criminal conduct which is to be prosecuted, if at all, in civilian courts.  The Government can not ask the military to detain Padilla while they continue their investigation.  

Civilian law enforcement connected to the Department of Justice initially placed Padilla in custody and continued that custody for over a month.  The Respondents are using the military to continue the detention of Jose Padilla free from the scrutiny of counsel and outside the authority of this Court.  The President’s Order was the vehicle by which the Respondents obtained unrestricted control over Padilla. These facts amount to individualized martial law.   By ordering the military to hold Padilla, the President has infused the military directly and actively into what Congress has determined to be a crime punishable by civilian authorities.  It is respectfully submitted that the President’s Order violates the Posse Comitatus Act and can not be sustained.

Conclusion
“No society is free where government makes one person's liberty depend upon the arbitrary will of another. Dictatorships have done this since time immemorial. ... Our Bill of Rights was written to prevent such oppressive practices. Under it this Nation has fostered and protected individual freedom. The Founders abhorred arbitrary one-man imprisonments. Their belief was -- our constitutional principles are -- that no person of any faith, rich or poor, high or low, native or foreigner, white or colored, can have his life, liberty or property taken "without due process of law." This means to me that neither the federal police,  nor federal prosecutors, nor any other governmental official, whatever his title, can put or keep people in prison without accountability to courts of justice. It means that individual liberty is too highly prized in this country to allow executive officials to imprison and hold people on the basis of information kept secret from courts.” Shaughnessy v. U.S. ex rel. Mezei, 345 U.S. 206, 217-18 (1953)(Black, J., dissenting).

Jose Padilla languishes in a Naval Brig.  He has not been permitted communication with counsel, family, or anyone save his interrogators and his guards.  He has not been charged with a crime. Never in the history of our country has a citizen been so detained.  We respectfully ask this Court to issue the Writ of Habeas Corpus, not only to end Jose Padilla’s unlawful detention, but to assure all Americans that even in difficult times the rights of every American will be protected.

Dated:
New York, New York

September 26, 2002

Respectfully submitted,

____________________________

Donna R. Newman, Esq. [6299]

____________________________



Andrew G. Patel, Esq.
 [4361]



�	Authorization for Use of Military Force, Pub..L. No. 107-40. 115 Stat. 224 (2001), issued September 14, 2001.


�	See 18 U.S.C. §2331.


�	See Mobbs Declaration at Tab 1 of Respondent’s brief.


�	Transcript of Attorney General John Ashcroft’s announcement on June 10, 2002 can be found at hhtp://ww.cnn.com/2002/US06/10/ashcroft.announcement/index.html


�	The issue of this Court’s jurisdiction over this writ and Ms. Newman’s standing as “Next Friend” have been previously briefed.  Counsel respectfully requests that the earlier submission on those issues be deemed to be annexed to this brief.


�	www.lawindiana.edu/ilj/v72/no4/rehnquist.html


�


The Emergency Detention Act of 1950 (Title II of the Internal Security Act), authorized the President, in time of invasion, declared state of war, or insurrection in aid of a foreign enemy, to proclaim an 'Internal Security Emergency' and to apprehend and detain persons as to whom there was reasonable ground to believe that they “probably will engage in, or probably will conspire with others to engage in, acts of espionage or of sabotage.” 50 U.S.C.A.§§812, 813, 64 Stat. 1021 (1950). The original bill, S. 4130, 81st Cong., 2d Sess. (1950), had contained provisions authorizing detention during such 'cold war' emergencies as an 'imminent invasion' or a congressionally declared emergency, but these provisions were eliminated because of doubtful constitutionality. See, Note, The Internal Security Act of 1950, 51 Col.L.Rev. 606, 651 (1951). 												





�          50 USC § 1544, the War Powers Resolution, limits the power of the President in an undeclared war. The Resolution requires the President to transmit a report to the Congress to allow for Congressional oversight.  Congress has the power to withdraw its authorization to use the Armed Forces.


� 	In his statement in support of the passage of the Joint Resolution, Senator Levin stated:


I want to note that the statement in the last “Whereas” clause relating  to the constitutional authority of the President to take action to deter and prevent acts of international terrorism against the United States is to be read in conjunction with the War Power Resolution.  That is why words in earlier drafts of the joint resolution which might have been interpreted to grant a broader military force, were deleted and that is why the references to the War Power Resolution were added.  It does not recognize any greater presidential authority than is recognized by the War Powers Resolution nor does it grant any new authority to the President. Id. S9416


�	See also, Statement of Patrick Leahy, United States Senator from Vermont,.“DOJ Oversight: Preserving Our Freedoms While Defending Against Terrorism”, 11/28/2001. (Indicating that as concerning the President’s Military Order implementing military commissions, the President has not sought Congressional authorization, thus, negating Respondents claim that actions of Congress post 9/11 expanded the President’s powers to the extent of a formal declaration of war).


 


�	hhtp://judiciary.sentate.gov/testimon.cfm?id=126&wit-id=72


�	See, Juan R. Torruella, United States Judge, United States Court of Appeals for the First Circuit, Article: On the Slippery slopes of Afghanistan: Military Commissions and the Exercise of Presidential Power, 4 U. Pa.J.Const. L. 648 (May 2002), for an analysis of the President’s use and abuse of his Commander-in-Chief power in the current “war against terrorism”.


�          As applicable are the observations of Professors Kaytal and Tribe concerning the President’s November 13, 2001 order declaring all captured non-citizens subject to military commissions. “The Bush Administration has sought to convert the singular Commander-in-Chief Clause into a textual warrant for exceptional unilateralism” Katyal & Tribe at 1269. 


�	Deputy Secretary of Defense, Paul Wolfowitz, on June 11, 2001, one day after Attorney General Ashcroft’s announcement, conceded that Padilla had not gotten beyond the early stages of planning to build a “dirty bomb”. “It was not as though this was a plan that was on the verge of being executed.” “I don’t think there was a plot beyond some very loose talk..” CBS “Early Show” Interview between Jane Clayson and Paul Wolfowitz on June 11, 2002.  Transcript can be found at: hhtp://usinfo.state.gov/topical/pol/terror/02061103.htm 


�       Respondent’s also reference In re Territo, 156 F.2d 142 (9th Cir. 1946) and Ex parte Toscano, 208 F. 938 (S.D. Cal. 1913) for the proposition that the President’s has the authority to seize combatants. (RB10,18 ). Neither is relevant to the situation here. Territo parallels the facts in Lindh, an American citizen, captured in uniform of enemy, on battlefield, fighting with the enemy. Territo, unlike Lindh, was designated a Prisoner of War.  His case came before the Court seeking review of the determination to allow for his repatriation into America. The petitioners in Toscano were Mexican nationals, fighting in the Mexican civil war.  They came across the border and were detained as Honorable Combatants pursuant to the Hague Convention. The facts in Toscano are so distinct from those in this case, it holding lends nothing to the discussions here.


�        Respondent also rely on Rostker v. Goldberg, et al., 435 U.S. 57 (1981) for the same proposition. Rostker, like Able concerns the Court’s passing upon Congressional action and thus, has no application to the constitutional issues raised here or the degree of deference to accord President’s Bush’s Order. 


�       Similarly, the rulings with respect to the Fourth Amendment in United States v. Verdugo-Urquidez, 494 U.S. 259 (1990) are not applicable to Padilla’s claim. Verdugo-Urquidez held that it did not violate the Fourth Amendment for U.S. agents to conduct a warrantless search of a non-U.S. citizen Mexican residence.


�     http://thomas.loc.gov/cgi-bin/query/D?r107:1:./temp/~r107zuYJVD::; 


�	In light of the Quirin’s Court’s earlier discussion relating to Congressional authorization found in the Articles of War, the reference to Constitutional authorization, is a reference to Congresses’ enactments.


�	The Administration has stated it has no intention of charging Padilla, either in civil court, or in military court. CNN Interview Donald Rumsfeld, Defense Secretary, June 12, 2002. This can be found at hhtp://www.cnn.com/TRANSCRIPTS/0206/12lad.05.html. Further, President Bush while ordering alien unlawful combatant citizens subject to military tribunals, specifically excluded citizens. Detention, Treatment, and Trial of Certain Non-Citizens in the War Against Terrorism , 66 Fed. Reg. 57. 833 (Nov. 13, 2001); Alberto R. Gonzales, Editorial, Martial Justice, Full and Fair, N.Y. Times, Nov. 30, 2001, at A27. 





�	In barring counsel from communicating with her client, Respondents have assured the facts submitted by them can not effectively be disputed.


�	Korematsu v. United States, 323 U.S. 214 (1944)


�         The Quirin case was a public relations problem from the inception of the saboteurs arrest.  Fisher, CSR-1-4; Danelski, The “Saboteurs” Case, 1 J.S.Ct.Hist. 61, 80 (1966)(hereinafter “Danelski”). Of the eight saboteurs, one, George John Dasch, decided to turn himself into the FBI shortly after he and three other saboteurs landed on the north shores of Long Island.   Only after several attempts was Dasch  able to convince the FBI to pay him any heed. With Dash’s active  assistance, the FBI was able to apprehend the three members of  Dasch’s group. CSR-3-4; Danelski, Saboteurs 63-64.  The Administration had concerns that a public trial would reveal the inept skills of the FBI, as well as, concerns that public disclosure of how easily the saboteurs were able to land and disperse among the population would alarm the public. There was a realization that the civil penalties which could be imposed were not extensive and that a verdict for sabotage would be difficult to sustain. These concerns lead the President to opt for secret trial. Fisher, CRS-3-4.   


�     Justice Frankfurter has referred to Quirin as not  “a happy precedent.” Danelski, pg.69,80. It has also been characterized as a rush to judgement Id. The weakness of the analysis of the decision is due to the Court’s attempt to justify its oral decision with legal precedent. The written decision was not issued for six months and the opinion was issued after the execution of the saboteurs. Id.


�         The Government has consistently used criminal statute to prosecute acts of terrorism, even those relating to al Queda and Taliban. See, e.g. United States v. Ben Liden, (the embassy bombing case), United States v. Rahman (which alleged a conspiracy to make war on the United States), United States v. Salemeh, (criminal prosecution of the 1993 bombers of the World Trade Center); United States v Yousef; (in which Ramzi Yousef was separately convicted of a conspiracy to cause mid-air explosions of airliners overseas, and his participation in the 1993 bombing of the World Trade Center.)  Furthermore, the Government has recently charged individuals, citizen and non-citizen, accused of plotting to detonate bombs in the United States in connection with their association and/or membership with al Queda under the criminal code. See, United States v. Earnest James Ujaama, (accused of attempting to set up an al Queda training camp in Oregon to prepare for future terrorists for ‘global violent jihad)and the Detroit indictment of United States v.  Karim Koubriti, et al(charged with conspiring ). Also see United States v. Goba, a complaint filed in the Western District of New York on September 13, 2002 which alleges that six American citizens gave material support to al Qaeda.  Furthermore, there is the very recent passage of the USA Patriot Act which provides extensive, if not exhaustive definitions terrorist acts, and provides for enhanced  penalties for acts of terrorism.


�         See Dirty Bomber Suspect Said “Small Fish”, C. Newton, Associated Press, August 14, 2002, which reports that “...U.S. law enforcement officials close to the case say Jose Padilla is probably a “small fish” with no ties to al-Qaida cell members in the United States.  The FBI’s investigation has produced no evidence that Jose Padilla had begun preparations for an attack and little reason to believe he had any support from al-Qaida to direct such a plot,...”  The facts contained in this news report and the very existence of such leaks, indicates the participation of civilian, rather than military investigators in this case.


�       See, discussion supra relative to 18 USC § 4001(a).
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